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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to this hearing of the Committee on Fire and

          4  Criminal Justice Services.

          5                 Today the Committee will be voting on

          6  Resolution 262 and examining Introduction 43.

          7  Resolution 262 calls upon the state to properly and

          8  fairly fund the City Department of Probation.

          9                 As the Committee has heard from

         10  Commissioner Horn at several budget hearings, New

         11  York City receives far less money for its Probation

         12  Department than do other counties in New York State.

         13                 New York City only receives $468 on

         14  average per probationer, versus the rest of the

         15  state, which receives an average of $647 per

         16  probationer.

         17                 This occurs despite the fact that

         18  having people on probation rather than in state

         19  prisons, saves the state a tremendous amount of

         20  money, and the fact that 40 percent that all

         21  probationers of New York State are on probation in

         22  New York City.

         23                 For these reasons, I urge my

         24  colleagues to support this resolution when it comes

         25  to vote later on today.
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          2                 In addition, we'll be hearing

          3  testimony, though not voting, on Introduction 43,

          4  which would require the FDNY and the Department of

          5  Correction to submit copies of their internal

          6  policies and procedures to the Council, as well as

          7  updates of these policies and procedures.

          8                 This bill makes sense because it

          9  enables the Council to properly perform its

         10  oversight role, and will reduce the number of

         11  information requests these agencies receive from the

         12  Council.

         13                 My staff has met with representatives

         14  of the FDNY and Correction and I'm aware of the

         15  concerns voiced in these meetings, including the

         16  potential burden and security issues relating to

         17  this legislation.

         18                 I thank the Department for their

         19  cooperation and look forward to finding a mutually

         20  acceptable outcome.

         21                 I'm joined here today by Council

         22  Member Tony Avella of Queens, and we will just get

         23  right into today's testimony.

         24                 Thank you so much for being here.

         25                 We have Steven Conry of the
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          2  Department of Correction and John Meehan of the

          3  FDNY. Thank you both, gentlemen.

          4                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Good morning,

          5  Chairperson Clarke and Council members. My name is

          6  John Meehan. I am a Battalion Chief in the New York

          7  City Fire Department. Thank you for allowing me this

          8  opportunity to testify today about the proposed

          9  local law Intro. 43.

         10                 This bill would require the FDNY to

         11  submit to the City Council all of its internal

         12  policies and procedures, including manuals,

         13  directives and regulations, and including all

         14  updates of such policies and procedures.

         15                 While the FDNY is interested in

         16  continuing to cooperate with the Council and remains

         17  willing to provide documents that you may request

         18  within reason, Intro. 43 is much too broadly worded.

         19                 The FDNY has literally rooms full of

         20  internal policies and procedures, including manuals,

         21  directives and regulations. I represent the

         22  uniformed side of our Department and our policies

         23  and procedures are vast, occupying many volumes,

         24  which are constantly updated.

         25                 I estimate that at least several
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          2  times a month the Department issues "Department

          3  Orders" that amend existing orders, policy

          4  announcements, et cetera, and otherwise provide

          5  policy or protocol directives.

          6                 For example, the uniform force is

          7  required to comply with policies about, among other

          8  things, what we wear, formal uniform, turn-out gear,

          9  the equipment we use, our radios, masks,

         10  firefighting tools, pumps, the procedures we follow

         11  in fighting fires, what size hose to be used in what

         12  instances, how to handle injuries, sick-leave, light

         13  duty, reporting requirements, and staffing the

         14  engine and ladder trucks and firehouse watches.

         15                 The extent of this is evident from

         16  the vast array of materials that members must study

         17  when preparing for officer/promotional exams.

         18                 I also know that each FDNY division,

         19  bureau, civilian and uniform, has volumes of

         20  procedures and policies, from fleet maintenance to

         21  dispatch operations to EEO procedures.

         22                 For example, our Human Resources

         23  personnel have their own set of procedures and

         24  policies about promotions, hirings, employee

         25  discipline, overtime, absence control and time
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          2  keeping.

          3                 Our Family Assistance Unit also has

          4  procedures about line-of-duty deaths and related

          5  notifications to family members.

          6                 All of our medical personnel, whether

          7  in the EMT/Paramedic ranks or our doctors in our

          8  health unit, have extensive procedures for

          9  administering medications and other medical

         10  assistance and maintaining their vehicles and

         11  equipment.

         12                 Where ambulances are deployed and

         13  what fire units can be taken off-line for medicals

         14  and training are all subject to Department

         15  protocols.

         16                 Moreover, FDNY headquarters has its

         17  own set of policies and procedures for entering the

         18  building, receiving deliveries, et cetera. This very

         19  partial list does not even include our Fire Code and

         20  associated regulations and our inspection violations

         21  procedures.

         22                 As I indicated, the Department wants

         23  to provide the Council with information that it

         24  regards as important to its oversight functions or

         25  relating to a topic of special interest, unless the
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          2  documents are confidential or disclosure would

          3  compromise public safety. Our concern is that this

          4  legislation, as written, is too broad. We would have

          5  extraordinary difficulty complying with it, unless

          6  the language was clarified to narrow its scope.

          7                 We also believe that the benefits

          8  that the Council seems to be seeking here - more

          9  information about the Department - will not be

         10  realized, as Council members and staff may be

         11  overwhelmed by the amount of material provided, and

         12  may very well not be able to find what is needed or

         13  what is most relevant.

         14                 We believe this legislation is

         15  unnecessary. Maintaining the cooperative

         16  relationship between the FDNY and City Council will

         17  achieve, in a more rational and reasonable manner,

         18  the goals of this proposed bill. The FDNY looks

         19  forward to working with you.

         20                 Thank you for allowing me this

         21  opportunity to speak with you today.

         22                 CHIEF CONRY: Good morning. I am

         23  Steven Conry, Chief of Facility Operations for the

         24  Department of Correction.

         25                 I appreciate the opportunity to
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          2  testify in opposition to Intro. 43. This bill would

          3  require the Correction and Fire Department to

          4  provide the Council with continuously updated copies

          5  of all internal policies and procedures, including

          6  but not limited to manuals, directives and

          7  regulations.

          8                 If enacted, this legislation would

          9  seriously jeopardize public safety by requiring that

         10  highly sensitive law enforcement information be

         11  released, not only to the Council, but only to the

         12  operation of Local Law 11 to the public as well over

         13  the Internet.

         14                 Moreover, it would impose an

         15  unnecessary, unreasonable, unmanageable burden on

         16  both agencies, while not effectively serving the

         17  Council's needs.

         18                 An example of such a burden is that

         19  on a daily basis command level orders are

         20  promulgated in various units throughout the

         21  Department, such matters including cleaning

         22  mattresses, placement of food containers, tracking

         23  inoperable elevators, provision of Kosher meals,

         24  recycling, key control and matters such as these.

         25                 The following are our concerns. By
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          2  operation of Local Law 11, all materials produced

          3  under this bill would be broadcast to the public

          4  over the Internet. This is so even where public

          5  disclosure would compromise the safety of the public

          6  or law enforcement officers.

          7                 Neither the Fire Department, nor we,

          8  can produce sensitive documents for the Council if

          9  we cannot protect them from the publication

         10  requirements of Local Law 11.

         11                 The proposed legislation does not

         12  permit any documents to be withheld from the

         13  Council, even where public safety is threatened.

         14                 The law governing production of

         15  documents by the Police Department does contain such

         16  a protection, and this is essential if we are to

         17  protect public safety.

         18                 This is particularly critical in

         19  light of the absence of any confidentiality

         20  protections or controls over secondary

         21  dissemination.

         22                 These security issues are fatal

         23  defects. But additionally, the bill is overly broad

         24  and unreasonably burdensome.

         25                 As written, the bill would require
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          2  regular collection and transmittal of a vast

          3  quantity of documents regardless of subject matter

          4  or relevance to the Council's inquiries.

          5                 The burden on us would be huge.

          6                 It's inefficient and the time and

          7  effort required of us would diminish our ability to

          8  fulfill our core function of protecting public

          9  safety.

         10                 The Department is committed to

         11  working with the Council to come up with a better

         12  approach, one that will address the Council's needs

         13  without endangering public safety or imposing an

         14  excessive burden on agencies, and we are convinced

         15  that this can be accomplished without the

         16  inflexibility of legislation.

         17                 If this agency and the Council work

         18  together to understand one another's needs, we can

         19  develop a procedure for the transmission of

         20  information that satisfies everyone.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you. Thank

         23  you, both, very much.

         24                 I have a couple of questions with

         25  regard to the response. We had sort of anticipated
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          2  some of this in some of the conversations you've

          3  already had with Council staff.

          4                 I was just wondering, the Council

          5  staff met with representatives of the FDNY and

          6  Correction and they felt that the Administration was

          7  not opposed in principal with providing the Council

          8  with information it needs to properly conduct

          9  oversight.

         10                 Is this a correct assessment of the

         11  Administration's position? I mean, from your agency

         12  perspectives?

         13                 CHIEF CONRY: Yes, but only some

         14  information. As we noted in the testimony. Some

         15  information we need to, not to disclose because of

         16  its public safety considerations. We are doing a lot

         17  of things now in the Department towards moving the

         18  information that we believe is not, does not

         19  endanger public safety to the web, for instance,

         20  where both the Council and the general public can

         21  gain instantaneous access to that information, and

         22  that would cover a lot of the agency policy that's

         23  out there.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'm trying to get

         25  a sense of what type of security concerns are
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          2  concerns that would not be relevant to the oversight

          3  function of the City Council. You know, ultimately

          4  we are held accountable for anything that takes

          5  place within the agencies, and making sure that it

          6  is not only the best interest of the public at

          7  large, but also the men and women who work within

          8  your agencies.

          9                 And, so, that seems to me to cover

         10  the gamut and the universe of, you know, the

         11  functions of your entities. What is it? You know, is

         12  there a particular category of security concern that

         13  is never to reach the domain of a legislative body?

         14  Is that essentially what is being said here?

         15                 CHIEF CONRY: I think there's two

         16  answers, as far as my agency is concerned.

         17                 One is that there are many, many

         18  security policy and procedures that we would not

         19  wish to share in public, because if they fell into

         20  the wrong hands, it could be used against us and

         21  endanger our staff, and even the inmates in our

         22  custody.

         23                 Examples of such would be key control

         24  and tool control, policies and procedures, where

         25  those could fall into the wrong hands and be used
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          2  against us and used for escape purposes.

          3                 Not to say that if we didn't work out

          4  -- we could work out some kind of agreement but it

          5  would have to contain some kind of confidentiality

          6  and absolutely a prohibition on secondary

          7  dissemination, and if we're not comfortable that,

          8  you know, or there's no commitment to that, you

          9  know, it's just going to be impossible to release

         10  items like that.

         11                 There are other items that are so, so

         12  critical that we may not even be able to agree to

         13  that. You know, such as how we respond to emergency

         14  incidents, disturbances, riots, escapes, stuff like

         15  that, where we wouldn't want to release that ever

         16  beyond a tight circle. It's not even released to a

         17  very big circle within the Department, in fact.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Chief Meehan,

         19  would you say that would apply to the FDNY as well?

         20                 CHIEF MEEHAN: For the most part. We

         21  have things such as documents on bioterrorism,

         22  weapons of mass destruction, policies like that that

         23  are still very much sensitive material that I don't

         24  think that the Department would want that anywhere's

         25  near the public hands.

                                                            15

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I guess for us

          3  it's making the distinction between the legislative

          4  body that is responsible and accountable, again, not

          5  only to the public at large, but to the employees,

          6  should there be a policy within your purview that

          7  for whatever reason, from a hypothetical

          8  perspective, was not adhered to and something

          9  occurred, it leaves us in a position of not knowing

         10  whether those policies and procedures, whether there

         11  was a breach in them from a human perspective.

         12                 Because we would never have a

         13  knowledge of what the actual procedures were, and we

         14  would be relying on essentially the word of whoever

         15  is responsible for enforcing those procedures, that

         16  either it was followed through on or it wasn't. And

         17  it's ironic that we would be talking about this

         18  right now, because I think these are some of the

         19  issues that are being struggled with with the 9/11

         20  Commission right now, about, you know, internally

         21  you have agencies that have gross security concerns,

         22  but the practical day-to-day activities with those

         23  agencies, who is held accountable if no one knows,

         24  with the exception of those who work within those

         25  entities, what the actual policies and procedures
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          2  are.

          3                 No response?

          4                 CHIEF MEEHAN: I can state from the

          5  Fire side, from the uniformed side, which is a small

          6  portion of the pie, that we have between three- and

          7  four-thousand pages of documents. It's really broad.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: It's voluminous.

          9                 And I can understand that. I wanted

         10  to raise the whole issue of categorical

         11  organization, because that, in itself, becomes a

         12  concern, too. You know, at what point do we become

         13  so inundated with obsolete procedures and practices,

         14  that it leaves room for error. How would we ever get

         15  to that point?

         16                 Are there indeed operational

         17  procedures and protocols, that are no longer being

         18  used but are being held as an archive or things of

         19  that nature.

         20                 You know, these, both Departments

         21  have evolved tremendously over centuries now, or at

         22  least a century now, and, you know, I'm not sure

         23  whether we're talking about the most recent policies

         24  and procedures, or are you like lumping all of this

         25  together, and then that becomes the issue. For us,
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          2  it may be just about a categorical listing, and is

          3  that possible?

          4                 CHIEF MEEHAN: The Fire Department can

          5  provide listing of documents from all different

          6  bureaus within, but I know from where I sit in the

          7  Fire Department, you know, like I stated previously,

          8  it's three- to four-thousand pages and that's just

          9  the operational side.

         10                 We do archive, what we would supply

         11  would be only current material.

         12                 CHIEF CONRY: What we testified about

         13  was all current material, as far as to the volume

         14  and the frequency with which it is updated almost on

         15  a daily basis, when you include all the training

         16  materials, command level orders, and those

         17  agency-wide policies. It's all current, and it's

         18  huge volume.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: As these

         20  revisions or addendums are added, is there a case

         21  where certain policies or protocols supersede

         22  something that was done previously? Or is it just,

         23  you know, and now you just know this then this and

         24  then this and this is what we're going to hold you

         25  accountable for?
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          2                 Because I'm just wondering just in

          3  terms of your rank and file, if they're staying

          4  current with your policies and procedures, if, in

          5  fact, the volume continues to grow at such a rapid

          6  rate that you can't even really manage to pull it

          7  together for us?

          8                 CHIEF CONRY: The answer is that

          9  about, I would estimate 80 percent of the material

         10  that we promulgate on any day, week or month, is a

         11  revision to existing policy or procedures, and the

         12  other 20 percent would be brand new issues, whatever

         13  that may be.

         14                 We do keep facility level staff, rank

         15  and file staff aware of the promulgation of such

         16  orders in various ways. One is that we have five

         17  days worth of in-service training each year where

         18  critical issues are discussed with staff, whether it

         19  be revised material or brand new topics.

         20                 In addition to that, every day they

         21  attend roll call where for ten to 15 minutes they're

         22  provided with updates to agency-wide policy changes

         23  and commend level changes in policy and procedure.

         24                 So, our staff are both told about the

         25  changes, and those changes are posted in conspicuous
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          2  areas throughout the facilities where they can read

          3  them. So, there are many ways that we ensure our

          4  staff stay up to date with the policies, even though

          5  they do change very frequently.

          6                 And many times the orders don't apply

          7  to the rank and files. A lot of times they're very

          8  special and they only affect a handful of people,

          9  only a handful of people need to know.

         10                 So, not every order, but every order

         11  and piece of paper was to come to you, it would be a

         12  very difficult job on your side to actually update

         13  your volumes of stuff and know what's current and

         14  what's not current, or this updates that and it's

         15  very difficult. It would be very difficult.

         16                 We don't even have a centralized list

         17  of materials that the commands are doing in-house

         18  themselves. Each particular facility would have a

         19  very large volume of their own command level audit.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, let me ask

         21  then, if your agencies do not have this information

         22  centrally, how do the commissioners' offices and

         23  department chiefs keep track of what the procedures

         24  are, and whether the procedures are being properly

         25  followed.
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          2                 CHIEF CONRY: We do this in several

          3  ways. One is that anything that the agency puts out

          4  obviously is held and maintained at a central

          5  location. Command level orders, however, are just

          6  that. They're promulgated by the commanding officer

          7  of the facility, often times as a result of us

          8  putting out an agency-wide policy, and just taking

          9  that policy and forming it into a procedure that can

         10  be used in that unique facility. So, to take in

         11  general a policy and then insert specific language

         12  and specific posts, such as identifying who is going

         13  to perform a certain function.

         14                 Those command level orders remain at

         15  the command, and are inspected at times by Division

         16  level personnel to make sure that they are in sync

         17  with the agency-wide policy. So, it's not as though

         18  those command level orders go unsupervised or unread

         19  by headquarter staff, they do but they're just not

         20  centrally collected or listed.

         21                 And thirdly, we have staff that go

         22  out and actually inspect those procedures and

         23  policies that are important to us that are mission

         24  critical, and that also would indicate that there

         25  was perhaps a lack of a procedure or that the
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          2  procedure that we promulgated agency-wide was not

          3  implemented properly at the command level and then

          4  we'd get it fixed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So is there any

          6  one unit that would be aware of the implementation

          7  of new policies and procedures when it took place,

          8  how it took place and is somehow cataloguing it so

          9  that there's some level of accountability.

         10                 I mean, you never have a situation

         11  where someone is saying, oh, wow, we didn't realize

         12  that this had changed?

         13                 CHIEF CONRY: No, that doesn't happen,

         14  but we don't have anybody that -- it's not centrally

         15  catalogued anywhere in any one place, but we ensure

         16  through memos from commanding officers that

         17  agency-wide policy has been put in place. They sent

         18  a letter of confirmation saying that, you know, for

         19  instance, today we come out with agency-wide policy,

         20  that would be sent to the chain of command, to the

         21  commanding officer. He would be given, or she would

         22  be given, ten to 14 days to promulgate a command

         23  level order, and they send a memo back to their

         24  Division Chief indicating that a command level order

         25  was implemented and the policy is being performed.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So like at the

          3  end of the 14 days you haven't gotten a response,

          4  then you know that something slipped?

          5                 CHIEF CONRY: Right. We would contact

          6  them and say we haven't heard from you, where is the

          7  memo, and it would come in. And it's a very routine

          8  thing we have going on.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Chief Meehan, I

         10  want to know, in the Department there's a function

         11  called "document controlled unit."

         12                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What do they do?

         14                 CHIEF MEEHAN: They disseminate

         15  information to the field units. Information is

         16  compiled headquarters level, it's cleared, and it

         17  runs through the document control unit.

         18                 It's published on a department order,

         19  also sent out as a hard copy to update the fire

         20  manuals for three- or four-thousand pages I spoke

         21  about earlier, and it's also placed on the Fire

         22  Department Internet, so all fire houses are privy to

         23  this new information.

         24                 If they received a department order

         25  and they liked what it said or they want to see a
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          2  previous paragraph to that, they can either take the

          3  book off the shelf and read it, or they can go to

          4  the Fire Department Internet.

          5                 We also have drills, every tour

          6  there's a one-hour drill period, which a chief

          7  officer attends part of. Any new information, any

          8  current information, anything relevant to what's

          9  going on in the Department is discussed at those

         10  drill periods.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, the document

         12  control unit is really there just to facilitate the

         13  dissemination of information, not to do any checks

         14  and balances necessarily?

         15                 CHIEF MEEHAN: There's editing,

         16  there's checks and balances, checking for conflicts,

         17  kind of a clearinghouse, if you will.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So would that

         19  unit have all of the information? Would that be

         20  considered your central area?

         21                 CHIEF MEEHAN: For the uniformed side.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: For the uniformed

         23  side.

         24                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Does that include
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          2  EMS as well?

          3                 CHIEF MEEHAN: That includes a portion

          4  of EMS.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: A portion of EMS,

          6  okay.

          7                 CHIEF MEEHAN: All right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: All right. Do you

          9  have something like that in the Department of

         10  Correction?

         11                 CHIEF CONRY: Not exactly. But we have

         12  a unit called "Policy and Procedures Unit" that's

         13  responsible for the promulgation and distribution of

         14  all orders, and on a monthly basis what they do is

         15  to provide the division levels with a list of newly

         16  promulgated teletypes and directives and operations

         17  orders that they've put out and in turn we have

         18  what's called a new order inspection procedure,

         19  where within that following month the divisions have

         20  to ensure that those policies and procedures were

         21  received by the jails, turned into command level

         22  orders and actually are responsible for inspecting

         23  the facility, walking around, seeing if supervisors

         24  have heard about the order, read about the order and

         25  understand it more importantly, and that's done for
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          2  all the Department's agency-wide policy revisions

          3  and additions.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. So, the

          5  Policies and Procedures Unit is what would be

          6  essentially comparable to the documents unit.

          7                 You see a lot of activity happening

          8  around. I am unfortunately in a situation where I am

          9  called to a vote next door. I'm going to ask

         10  Councilman Avella to just continue and complete our

         11  line of questioning here, and I want to thank you

         12  both. Hopefully I will be able to return prior to

         13  you leaving. But thank you, you've been extremely

         14  informative.

         15                 Council Member Avella.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Good

         17  morning, gentlemen.

         18                 I guess I'm going to ask you to go

         19  over some ground that Council Member Clarke has

         20  already asked you about.

         21                 I sort of understand the arguments

         22  that you've been making this morning about

         23  confidentiality, and the voluminous nature of these

         24  documents. But I noticed in I think Chief Meehan's

         25  testimony that you mentioned that several times a
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          2  month policy updates are given out, so if it's only

          3  several times a month that we're talking about, why

          4  would that be so voluminous in terms of giving that

          5  same information to the City Council?

          6                 CHIEF MEEHAN: That portion of it

          7  wouldn't be. That would be simple.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: So, you

          9  wouldn't be opposed to at least that part?

         10                 CHIEF MEEHAN: No, not at all.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay.

         12                 I want to go back to the comment that

         13  you had made, and this is for both of you, too.

         14                 When I heard that the -- I guess the

         15  policies and procedures are not centrally located as

         16  a layman, that sort of makes me very nervous to

         17  think that the agency doesn't have a central

         18  location for policies of itself.

         19                 So, I guess you're going to have to

         20  explain to me why that's not a bad thing, and why

         21  that is not something that the agency should be

         22  immediately rectifying.

         23                 CHIEF CONRY: What we specifically

         24  said is that command level orders are not centrally

         25  deposited and located. All our agency level policy
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          2  and procedures are centrally located, are housed and

          3  archived by the Policy and Procedures Unit, and as I

          4  just described under the new order inspection

          5  process, they monitor their implementation as well,

          6  by Division level staff going out and inspecting.

          7                 So, all our agency-wide policy and

          8  procedure are very heavily controlled and archived

          9  and housed centrally. It's the rest of the large

         10  volume of material that is not, and that's far

         11  greater volume than those particular orders.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I'm going

         13  to ask staff a question.

         14                 Do we have the policies and

         15  procedures at least as it relates to both agencies

         16  on how they distribute information? Has it ever been

         17  given to us? Can we get that information from both

         18  agencies at least, as how you disseminate

         19  information within the agency, in terms of policies

         20  and procedures?

         21                 CHIEF CONRY: I don't believe that it

         22  exists. We have an order on how directives are

         23  written. I don't know if they immediately address

         24  your concerns, but that order, that directive could

         25  be made available to you, yes.
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I think

          3  that would be a good starting point, at least from

          4  my perspective. I mean, to know how you district the

          5  information, and if it's not sufficient, then we can

          6  certainly take a look at it.

          7                 I'll turn it back to the Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Avella.

         10                 I did get an opportunity to hear the

         11  line of questioning. I think brilliant minds think

         12  alike.

         13                 Let me now follow-up. Let me ask,

         14  particularly in the area of FDNY, it's my

         15  understanding a complete copy of rules and

         16  regulations are at each firehouse. Are these

         17  complete copies of the FDNY's regulations? Or are

         18  some subject areas missing?

         19                 CHIEF MEEHAN: The only thing that I

         20  can tell you is from the uniformed side every fire

         21  house is equipped with the Intranet and hard copies

         22  of the material of rules and regulations.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Could you just

         24  explain for me a bit, when you say from the

         25  uniformed side, I know that there's also the
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          2  administrative side, right?

          3                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is there a nexus?

          5  Because you make it sound like it's almost mutually

          6  exclusive. Would most of the directives be coming to

          7  a certain degree or a significant amount?

          8                 CHIEF MEEHAN: No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         10                 CHIEF MEEHAN: I'm here to represent

         11  the Fire Department, but specifically the uniformed

         12  side.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right.

         14                 CHIEF MEEHAN: I have no idea what

         15  Tech Services does. I have no idea what Mass

         16  Services, what they do so far as documentation. I

         17  have no idea what the medical officer does. I can

         18  only speak for the uniformed side.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: And that's not

         20  really necessarily in your purview to know?

         21                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. Okay.

         23                 Does the FDNY provide a copy to all

         24  of the City's firehouses?

         25                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Yes. As we distribute
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          2  department orders, which have changes to current

          3  manuals, they would get the change on the Department

          4  order, as well as pages to revise their volumes in

          5  the firehouse, as well as access to the internet,

          6  which contain all of the Fire Department manuals.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, isn't that

          8  something that we could get?

          9                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Yes. Again, it's

         10  voluminous. It's three- to four-thousand pages, and

         11  that's from one area of the Department. And that's

         12  the only area that I'm here to speak about today.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I got you. I got

         14  you.

         15                 I'm just wondering about it, and it's

         16  four-thousand pages.

         17                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Three- to

         18  four-thousand.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Three- to

         20  four-thousand pages. Is every uniformed firefighter

         21  to know everything that's in there? Or is it there

         22  just as a reference for the most part? Is there like

         23  an abbreviated version that deals with like perhaps

         24  day-to-day?

         25                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Well, there are certain
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          2  directives that are like administrative directives

          3  that they should at least be aware of, something to

          4  refer back to if they have any questions. There are

          5  operational procedures and policies that as

          6  firefighters they should know, and then it starts to

          7  go up the chain, lieutenant, captain, battalion,

          8  deputy chiefs, we have different procedures for

          9  different ranks at different operations, and they're

         10  all contained in the manuals as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: In the same

         12  manuals. Big, big manuals. Okay, I've got you.

         13                 Can you tell me what the Department

         14  of Corrections Rules and Regulations were included

         15  in the disk that was given out for the last

         16  captain's test.

         17                 CHIEF CONRY: I'm not completely

         18  familiar with the disk you're talking about. But

         19  generally I know it to contain all of the

         20  Department's agency-wide directives and operation

         21  orders. I can't tell you what else is on there

         22  beyond that. I know Mayor's Executive Order 16 is on

         23  there. I used the disk myself at my desk, but I'm

         24  not sure whether other things are included on that.

         25                 Generally it's the universe of
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          2  knowledge that's applicable to the officers taking

          3  the promotional exam, either captain or assistant

          4  deputy warden. It's a study tool.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: In the FDNY, am I

          6  correct in understanding that the Department bag is

          7  used among other things to deliver daily updates of

          8  the FDNY's rules and procedures to each firehouse?

          9                 CHIEF MEEHAN: That's correct, there's

         10  an internal messenger service that goes out every

         11  night from headquarters and delivers, quote/unquote

         12  the bag, amongst other things.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. All right.

         14                 I'm also told that some questions

         15  about whether all department policies are all

         16  available electronically. Can you explain how any

         17  policies or procedures wouldn't be available in

         18  electronic format?

         19                 CHIEF MEEHAN: All of the procedures

         20  that I spoke about, policies and procedures, the

         21  3,000 pages, would be available electronically.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: It would be?

         23                 CHIEF MEEHAN: Yes, it would be. But,

         24  again, that's one slice of the pie. I can't tell you

         25  what the other bureaus are doing within the agency.
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          2                 CHIEF CONRY: With regard to the

          3  Department of Correction, we have, if you want to

          4  consider that study tool electronic, yes, all the

          5  agency-wide policies relevant to promotion would be

          6  on there, which would leave very little else that's

          7  not on there. But, again, that, just like the Fire

          8  Department is a very small piece of the pie, which I

          9  have knowledge of the rest of the items that are on

         10  there, and that's what we were talking about

         11  previously, command level orders, training plans,

         12  teletypes, items like that that far outweigh the

         13  number of agency-wide, although that's a large

         14  volume, you know, spanning that big maybe, each

         15  command has command level orders that span that big,

         16  plus more, because of the uniqueness of the command,

         17  and then the academy would have the training plans

         18  and teletypes go out every day, 20, 30, some of

         19  which affect policy. So, they would not be on that

         20  CD-Rom, nor are they available on other electronic

         21  media.

         22                 We have in the past year, 18 months,

         23  distributed our agency-wide policies via e-mail now.

         24  So, some of the newest directives and operation

         25  orders are sent to us that way, instead of in the
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          2  mail bag. But all the old stuff is not available

          3  except for on that CD-Rom made for promotional

          4  purposes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Do you have a

          6  sense of, I guess in terms of time period, at what

          7  point policy, after a policy has been revised that

          8  it moves to an archive or historic stage, so that

          9  there's a weeding-out process?

         10                 I mean, I understand a directive can

         11  be many, many, many pages or what have you, and that

         12  then adds to the volume of what we're talking about

         13  here. But I don't want us to get caught up in, well,

         14  we have, you know, so much volume that you would

         15  never be able to get to the bottom of what we're

         16  doing in the 21st century in our agency.

         17                 CHIEF CONRY: Well, I'm happy to

         18  report that we actually on a yearly basis vet all

         19  our agency policy to ensure that it's not outdated,

         20  outmoded. And what we do, what we're asked to do in

         21  the chain of command is to review it, and determine

         22  whether (a) it's still necessary. And if you say

         23  it's not, then it gets eliminated and taken off the

         24  list and archived. So, it no longer exists in

         25  anybody's manual.
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          2                 Secondly, we could look at it and say

          3  we still need this order, but you know what? It

          4  needs to be updated, a name needs to be changed, a

          5  command needs to be changed, or a whole procedure

          6  retooled, which we do often.

          7                 So, then it's drafted, reviewed and

          8  then repromulgated, and instead of the directive

          9  being 4,500, it now becomes 4,500R or two years

         10  later RA or RAB, you know, we have a system for

         11  numbering to indicate, and it's marked on there when

         12  the last revision was.

         13                 And then (c) you may get a read of

         14  the directive and this is fine, even though it was

         15  written in 1982, this directive is still necessary

         16  and all its contents are appropriate.

         17                 So, we do that every year, at least

         18  yearly, for all agency-wide policy.

         19                 CHIEF MEEHAN: The Fire Department

         20  does something very similar as well. Just many times

         21  on the Department orders, instead of issuing new

         22  material or revising existing material, we revoke

         23  old material.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         25                 So, let me ask, is everything that
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          2  you just discussed on computer at Department of

          3  Correction?

          4                 CHIEF CONRY: The answer is no. Those

          5  materials that go back a long way that still are

          6  appropriate and don't need to be changed, some of

          7  that stuff we don't have in electronic format.

          8                 Most, yes. Some we do not.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is it a goal to

         10  ever get it to an electronic format, or is it just

         11  too much?

         12                 CHIEF CONRY: We're working towards

         13  what the Fire Department has which is Internet

         14  availability of all orders and regulations, so we

         15  can retrieve them at the command level. We're not

         16  there yet. We have the CD-Rom.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

         18                 I want to thank you, gentlemen.

         19  You've certainly given me some insight. This will be

         20  an ongoing conversation. I think a lot of it has to

         21  do with our concern and ability to provide the

         22  appropriate oversight and also just to be clear

         23  that, you know, as we evolve and as things become

         24  much more security-based, that there isn't any room

         25  for egregious mistakes to happen. And you know, we

                                                            37

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  appreciate everything that you do, and we appreciate

          3  the sensitivity of the work involved here. You know,

          4  it's just our responsibility to have at least a

          5  sense, and you've given some of that today, quite

          6  frankly, of you know, how things operate, how

          7  information gets out, and how you hold one another

          8  accountable for making sure the policies and

          9  procedures are adhered to.

         10                 So, I want to thank you both very

         11  much.

         12                 It was our hope to actually vote

         13  today on Resolution 262, but we did not have a

         14  quorum today, and, so, we will be following it up at

         15  our next hearing to make sure that that takes place.

         16  It's a very important resolution. We need to send a

         17  signal to the state about our concern with respect

         18  to the Department of Probation.

         19                 So, having no other concerns, no

         20  other questions with respect to today's hearing, I

         21  call this hearing adjourned.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 11:03 a.m.)

         23

         24

         25
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